THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

M. Dawes Cooke, Special Referee

RECEIVED

JAN 07 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2017-CP-08-01088

Appellate Tracking Number 2020-001118

Todd Olds,

Appellant

vs.

Berkeley County, Berkeley County Planning Commission,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas R. Goldstein, S. C. Bar No. 2186
Belk, Cobb, Infinger & Goldstein, P.A.
P. O. Box 71121
N. Charleston, S. C. 29415-1121
(843) 554 4291
(843) 554 5566 (fax)
tgoldstein@cobblaw.net
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

IS THE SPECIAL REFEREE’S DECISION CONTROLLED BY ERRORS OF LAW AND FACT BECAUSE THE COUNTY’S LEGISLATIVE DECISION, ITS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, FOUND THE PLAINTIFF’S PROPERTY TO BE APPROPRIATE FOR THE REZONING HE REQUESTED, AND THE SOLE BASIS FOR DENYING THE REQUEST WAS TO APPEASE OBJECTING NEIGHBORS WHOSE CONCERNS WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY ANY CREDIBLE EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF CASE

In 2011, Berkeley County passed its Comprehensive Plan in accordance with § 6-29-510, S. C. Code, ann. In accordance with this Plan, the County evaluated its inventory of property and adopted a Future Land Use Map to govern zoning and development. (Record on Appeal page ____, [joint exhibits 3, 8 and 9]. On July 20, 2017, the Appellant purchased two parcels of real estate commonly referred to as 749 and 751 Royle Road. Royle Road is a South Carolina state highway, S-8-535, and a major traffic artery that connects U. S. Highway 78 to U.S. Highway 17-A, crossing over Interstate 26. (See satellite map at pages ____ of the Record on Appeal [packet pages 21-23, Joint Exhibit 3].) The appellant's property is approximately a thousand feet from Royle Road and Interstate 26. At the time the appellant began investigating the property for purchase, he was aware that the 749 parcel was zoned R-2, mobile home residential, and that the 751 parcel was zoned R-3, mobile home commercial. (Standing on Royle Road and facing the property, the left-hand (south) parcel is the one zoned R-2, and the right-hand (north) parcel is zoned R-3, and appellant will use the designation of "left hand parcel" and "right hand parcel" to simplify the distinction. The classification matrix of the surrounding properties is found in the Record on Appeal at page ____ [packet page 14, joint exhibit 3]. The matrix shows the subject parcel is surrounded by R-2, R-3, and OI, Office and Institutional.) Because he had done his due diligence, the plaintiff was also aware that the County's 2010 Comprehensive Plan had designated Royle Road as appropriate for reclassification to R-3 because the County determined the area was appropriate for higher density residential growth to meet the County's critical need for affordable housing.

On January 24, 2017, Appellant filed an application with the Planning Department to reclassify the right-hand parcel to R-3 to be consistent with the adjoining parcel and consistent to

the County's Future Land Use Map. (R.O.A. page ____ [application]) In accordance with its normal procedure, the Berkeley County Planning Department conducted a site investigation and reported its findings and recommendation to the County as follows:

The applicant, B. Todd Olds, is requesting to rezone a 1.29-acre parcel, located along Royle Road and indicated by the following TMS number: 233-09-02-046, from Manufactured (R-2) to Mobile Home (R-3). According to the Application, the applicant wishes to conform with the adjacent property (TMS 233-09-02-007) which is already zoned R-3. The Applicant's intent is to combine the subject property with the adjacent 1.2 acre R-3 zoned parcel (TMS 233-09-02-007) Upon combination, the 2-acre minimum lot size requirement for R3 zoning would be met."

...

Conformance with Comprehensive Plan: Yes. -- The subject property contains the 2010 Future Land Use Plan recommendation of *Low Density Suburban*, which seeks to include diverse housing choices and will act as a transition from Constrained Growth Areas to higher density residential and commercial areas.

Staff Recommendation: **APPROVAL – Staff recommends approval of this request as it provides an opportunity for the development of a diversity of housing options, which align with Future Land Use Plan and are compatible in the context of the area concerned.** The proposed use of the property is compatible with surrounding land uses. There is also an understanding between the applicant and the Planning Department that parcels 233-09-02-046 [left hand parcel] and 233-09-02-007 [right hand parcel] will be combined and recorded prior to third reading at County Council.

R.O.A. page ____ [joint exhibit 3] (boldface and underline in original)

After the Staff filed its recommendation, the County scheduled the application for three meetings: On February 28, 2017, Appellant appeared before the Berkeley County Planning Commission, which voted unanimously to deny recommending approval. Then Appellant appeared before the County Council twice, first on March 13, 2017, before the County Council's *Land Use and Economic Development Committee* and then on March 27, 2017 before the County Council. (The *Land Use Committee* and County Council are the same members, so, for purposes of this brief, Appellant treats them as the same. Moreover, the "meeting" before the *Land Use Committee* on March 13th was not much of a meeting since before any spoke about the application, Councilmember Newell informed the Committee that because the property was in his district, it

was his decision to make, and he had already decided without hearing the evidence. R.O.A. page ____ [tr. page 36, lines 16-18: “I think myself being the councilman for that district, I should have the right to say approval or disapproval.” He made a motion for denial, which was seconded, before anyone said a word. R.O.A. page ____ [tr. P. 37]) Thus, the Planning Commission voted unanimously to overrule the Planning Department staff and recommend disapproval, and the *County Council Land Use Committee* voted 6-2 and the Council voted 5-2 to deny the request to rezone to R-3. To promote judicial economy, Appellant treats all three meetings as a single cumulative denial because the subject matter, the participants, the objections and the analysis (or lack of analysis) in each meeting are indistinguishable. In other words, the same complaining neighbors advanced the same subjective and speculative complaints at each meeting and all three denials are grounded on the same unsupported allegations of complaining residents. Here is how Councilman Schulknicht summed it up: “. . . with that in mind, again, I’ve been down Royle Road many a times; I’ve been down Royle Road for the last 40 years. And I’ve seen a lot of stuff going on over there, all the development in that area. And I feel for you, I really do. And I know—I’ll be remiss to sit here and try to tell you that it doesn’t devalue your property, because it does.” (R.O.A. page ____ [tr. page 59, line 20—page 60, line 3, Councilmember Schurlknicht]) Therefore the three meetings can be safely treated in a single analysis. (It may be worthwhile to mention that the two members of County Council who voted to grant the request are the only two members who have formal legal training.) The Minutes and the votes of these three meetings are found in the Record on Appeal at pages ____ - ____, and _____.

On April 28, 2017, the appellant filed an appeal with the Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas. (R.O.A. page ____) The complaint alleges that the decision to deny rezoning is arbitrary and capricious. The complaint also sought damages; however, the parties agreed that any

application for damages is premature, and for that reason, on March 29, 2019, the parties agreed to refer the case to M. Dawes Cooke as Special Referee to make findings of fact and conclusions of law and to enter a final order directly appealable to the Court of Appeals on a single issue; to wit whether the County's denial of the appellant's application was or was not arbitrary and capricious. (Prior to referring the case to the Special Referee, Appellant moved for summary judgment, which the Court denied by Order dated October 2, 2018, R.O.A. page ____.

The parties briefed the issue to the Special Referee, and on December 10, 2019, the Special Referee scheduled oral argument. Following oral argument, the Special Referee entered an Order on May 12, 2020, upholding the County Council's decision to deny the rezoning. R.O.A. page ____ The appellant filed a motion for reconsideration on May 21, 2020, and on July 23, 2020, the Special Referee denied reconsideration. R.O.A. pages ____ and _____. This appeal followed on August 7, 2020. (R.O.A. page _____)

FACTS

The facts are undisputed and set forth in the Statement of Case. Two facts not summarized in the Statement of Case are that (1) The County's Comprehensive Plan is the County's legislative decision as enacted by ordinance, and (2) the Royle Road residents' complaints are not based on anything objective. Rather, every concern they identified is grounded upon nothing more than their prejudicial opinions about residents of mobile homes and that 14 more mobile homes on Royle Road would adversely affect their property interests and their safety. As set forth above, these subjective and speculative concerns were summarized by Councilman Schurlknight as the "stuff" going on out there on Royle Road, but in deciding against the Appellant's request for rezoning, the County Council disregarded the findings of its own Comprehensive Plan. The

residents' complaints are occasionally hard to read because they express brazen prejudice and stereotyping. Consider this representative testimony the Headden's:

And I am really against another mobile home park coming in there. And I have seen so many things go on with the one right next door to me, where I've had to go to many court cases for animals that were abused, animals left, um, unattended that come over to my property. There is no restriction on how well they keep these homes up.

And, you know, I hate to stereotype, but it is what it is, and we've got problems with too many mobile home parks there now. And if you were to come into my home and sit down to watch television with the door open, which I have a full glass storm door, which we like sit there with the door open, and you look outside, you're looking straight at a mobile home that has had a porch that is—I don't know how the people walk up on it—air-conditioners sitting out in the yard with a burn barrel next to it, and the grass gets cut maybe three times out of the summer.

And I just don't want to see another mobile home park coming in there. And not only that, the traffic has got to a point to where if any of you were to travel Royle Road in the middle of the day during the school time, you couldn't get through. You have to stop. The cars are parked on the side of the road.

This is going to cause more kids to come in, which is going to make that situation even worse. So I am against the mobile home park.

Then Mrs. Headden followed up with this canard:

And if you all had to live beside the one that I live beside and across from the one that this gentleman is talking about, you wouldn't want to see another trailer pulled in anywhere. Because we see Berkeley County—it's on a daily thing. We smell meth being cooked. My husband was a fireman for 30 years.

MR. RAYMOND HADDEN: I am trained in clandestine drug labs, so I know what it smells like.

R.O.A. pages ___-___[tr. Page 27, line 16 through 29, line 24] (emphasis added)

The minimal probing from the Planning Commission yielded further clarifications from the Headden's that demonstrate the lack of foundation for their beliefs. According to them, the police could not locate any "meth labs" because "these guys are pros at what they're doing. They know when they're [the police] coming, and they know what to do to avoid their appearance." (R.O.A. page ___[tr. Page 30, lines 12-14]). The Special Referee erred when he found that completely unsupported assertions from complaining residents were "barely sufficient" concerns

about traffic and safety are enough to prevent the County's denial from being arbitrary and capricious:

It would be unfair to judge the County's legislative decision because of public comments—however pejorative, uninformed, and speculative—that were made in that same vein. Further neighbors' fears about increased housing density and its attendant aggravation of traffic congestion and increased burden on infrastructure are fairly debatable. Certainly, Plaintiff's proposed addition to these social problems would be minimal in comparison to the existing business. However, evidence in the record suggests that the residents of that area had for years consistently opposed more mobile homes and the County had consistently denied applications for them. Arguably, the County would be hard-pressed to deny future similar rezoning applications if it granted Plaintiff's application, so Council could reasonably believe that approving Plaintiff's application would lead them down a slippery slope." (R.O.A. page ___[May 12, 2020 Order at page 13])

Thus, the one fact that merits emphasis in the Statement of Facts is this: the purely subjective complaints identified by Royle Road residents, typified by the Headden's, are not based on facts but are grounded entirely on unsupported, subjective opinions, and under the Court's slippery slope logic, no property owner is permitted the highest and best use of his or her property without the approval of neighbors. (Rather than lengthen the brief unnecessarily, Appellant directs the Court to the summary of complaints tallied in the Record on Appeal at pages ___-___[affidavit of Todd Olds]. Therefore the most important fact in this case is the **absence** of facts before the County Council and the conclusion that flows from the absence of objective criteria: that Council based its decision on nothing more than hyperbole, speculation, or as Councilmember Schurlknight described it: the "stuff going on out there." (R.O.A. pages ___ and ___[Minutes of March 27, 2017 County Council meeting, tr. Page 59, l. 19-page 60, l. 15]) The only objective criteria in the record are the findings of the County when it adopted its Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map by ordinance. In other words, despite the enormous amount of work—including public participation—put into adopting its Comprehensive Plan, the Council ignored its own legislative findings to appease complaining residents.

Arguments

A. The County's decision was arbitrary and capricious.

B. The County's decision was at variance with its legislative findings as expressed in the adoption of its Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Plan.

C. The opposing neighbors presented nothing in opposition to the request for rezoning other than their legally insufficient unsupported prejudice.

1) *Bannum v. City of Columbia*, 335 S.C. 202, 516 S.E.2d 439 (1999)

2) *Wyndham Enterprises v. City of North Augusta*, 401 S.C. 144, 735 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 2012)

3) *Helicopter Solutions v. Hinde*, 414 S.C. 1, 776 S.E.2d 753 (Ct. App. 2015)

A. The County's decision was arbitrary and capricious.

The parties and the circuit court stand on common ground with the proposition that courts are required to uphold legislative decisions provided they are "fairly debatable," and it was on this conclusion that the Special Referee upheld the Berkeley County Council's decision: "That the Plaintiff's application to rezone his property was consistent with the Comprehensive Plan is certainly a strong point in his favor. However, it is not enough to overcome his extremely high burden of proving that the merits of Council's legislative decision are not at least fairly debatable." (R.O.A. page ___ [Order at page 19]) There are several material errors in this conclusion that require reversal.

First, the circuit court erred by giving the same weight to unsupported speculation of complaining residents to the weight of the County's carefully reached "legislative decision" as adopted and codified by the County in its 2010 Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Plan. (See R.O.A. pages ___-___ for Ordinance 18-04-11 2017 review of the 2010 Comprehensive Plan. [Joint Exhibit 1] The County's legislative decision is contained in the extensive investigation and deliberation that led to its adoption of its Comprehensive Plan, not in the complaints of complaining neighbors who do not want "those people" in "our" neighborhood. The County adopted, by Ordinance 18-04-11 on April 23, 2018, renewing its 2010 10-year Comprehensive Plan after

extensive investigation and public comment. (R.O.A. page ____ [ordinance, Joint Exhibit 1]. The *Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994*, § 6-29-510, *et. seq.* requires each county to adopt a Comprehensive Plan, and the statutorily required process mandates extensive public participation as well as the evaluation and incorporation of objective data in arriving at a Plan. On its Home Page, Berkeley County summarizes the process as follows:

The 2010 Comprehensive Plan was a 2-year process that involved several rounds of public input meetings providing citizens and business owners the opportunity to help shape the plan. In addition, monthly meetings were held involving the public, county planning staff, BDC Council of Government's staff, and the Planning Commission. Several guest speakers were invited to give presentations providing valuable information to the Planning Commission. The plan was officially adopted by County Council on June 27, 2011.

Berkeley County's Comprehensive Plan (R.O.A. pages __-__ [G1.2 Comprehensive Plan, Joint Exhibit 9, page 1-2]) identifies a critical shortage of affordable housing in Berkeley County, and as part of the evaluation of land use after conducting numerous workshops and public meetings, the County adopted a "Future Land Use Plan," which identified Royle Road as the appropriate location for the creation of affordable housing. The circuit court's legal error is that it found the complaining neighbors' subjective, speculative and unsupported assertions about the behavior of future residents were equal to the specific conclusions reached by County Council in adopting the Comprehensive Plan. The Comprehensive Plan is an ordinance and has the force of law. See Berkeley County Ordinance § 1-2, "Purpose." This requirement, which the Special Referee incorrectly applied as a "suggestion," makes clear the force of the ordinances: "It is the purpose of this ordinance to: **Implement the goals and policies outlined in the Berkeley County comprehensive plan.**" (R.O.A. page __, emphasis added) The elevation of complaining residents over the rational conclusions adopted in The Comprehensive Plan is palpable legal error as many cases have held, three of which are more fully addressed in Section C below. Grounding a legislative decision on prejudice

does not provide a legally sufficient basis to reach a “fairly debatable” standard for legislative design, especially when those subjective concerns are at variance with the legislative findings and conclusions Berkeley County adopted in its Comprehensive Plan. A legal decision based on speculation of future harm can never be “fairly debatable,” any more than a judge can find a defendant guilty because the Court suspects he might cause trouble if set free. The two bases for conclusion are incompatible with one another, and the trial court erred in equating the unsupported speculation of complaining residents with the rational deliberation of Berkeley County government in enacting its Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Plan.

Also perplexing is the Special Referee’s reliance on complaining neighbors’ assertions that because the area was already supporting numerous mobile homes, therefore no more should be allowed. See the testimony of Raymond Hedden: “There are 13 trailer parks presently on Royle Road that I personally counted from I-26 overpass northeast to Highway 17-A.” R.O.A. page ___[tr. Page 47, lines 12-14]. This “saturation” testimony, which runs through the testimony of all the complaining residents, turns both logic and the law of zoning on their heads. By this crazy logic, mobile homes are only allowed where they are not allowed. On the one hand, Berkeley County, through its exhaustive planning process, determined that Royle Road is the proper location for mobile home parks, but on the other hand, the same governmental entity that adopted its Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Plan allowed complaining residents to veto it. The logical absurdism leaps out because if mobile homes are not allowed where the County allows them, then they are not allowed anywhere. Appellant had low expectations that the County Council would recognize this self-refuting proposition because logic in politics does not carry the same force as it does in law. The circuit court erred in allowing this absurdity to serve as a basis for supporting a conclusion that the debate is “fairly” debatable.

Moreover, the Special Referee’s conclusion that he was required to yield to the concerns of complaining residents is an abdication of judicial responsibility. (The circuit court touched on this concern in footnote 2 on page 2 of its May 12, 2020 Order. R.O.A. page ____ Because a denial of substantive due process = arbitrary and capricious, an analysis of one is equally valid for the other. They are different expressions for the same legal wrong, and they can be used interchangeably. No court has ever held that an arbitrary or capricious decision is anything but a denial of substantive due process. See: *Sloan v. South Carolina Bd. Of Physical Therapy Exam’rs.*, 370 S.C. 452, 483, 636 S.E.2d 598, 615 (2006))

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