RECEIVED

Feb 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Special Referee

Case No. 2017-CP-08-01088

Appellate Case No. 2020-001118

Todd Olds,

Appellant

vs.

Berkeley County and Berkeley County
Planning Commission,

Respondents

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

John S. West, S.C. Bar No. 6035
West Law Firm, PA
207 Carolina Avenue
PO Box 1869
Moncks Corner, SC 29461
843-761-5626 (Telephone)
843-761-5627 (Fax)
Jwestlaw@HomeSC.com
Attorneys for the Respondent

John O. Williams, II, S.C. Bar No. 78648
Berkeley County Attorney
1003 Highway 52
PO Box 6122
Moncks Corner, SC 29461

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

ARGUMENTS

I. BECAUSE THE SPECIAL REFEREE DETERMINED THAT A DECISION OF COUNTY COUNCIL TO DENY PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S REZONING REQUEST WAS A PROPER EXERCISE OF ITS LEGISLATIVE PREROGATIVE, HE PROPERLY DENIED THE APPEAL.

Special Referee Cooke correctly summarized in his Order well-settled law in South Carolina...“Zoning is a legislative act which will not be interfered with by the courts unless there is a clear violation of citizen’s constitutional rights. In order to successfully assault a city’s zoning decision, a citizen must establish that the decision was arbitrary and capricious. *Byrd, et al v. City of North Augusta*, 261 S.C. 591, 201 S.E. 2d 744 (1974), *Knowles v. City of Aiken*, 305 S.C. 219, 407 S.E. 2d 639 (S.C. 1991)”. R.O.A. _____.

“The governing bodies of municipalities clothed with authority to decide residential and industrial districts are better qualified by their knowledge of the situation to act upon these matters than are courts, and their decisions will not be interfered with unless there is a plain violation of the constitutional rights of citizens.” *Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. 383, 675 S. E. 2d 776 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009). Mr. Cooke went further in his Order:

Citing *Knowles*, “Courts cannot become city planners, but can only correct injustices when they are clearly shown to result from municipal action.”

“In the context of a zoning action involving property, it must be clear that the state’s action has no foundation in reason and is a mere arbitrary or irrational exercise of power having no substantial relation to the public health, the public morals, the public safety or the public welfare in its proper sense. *Sylvia Dev. Corp. v. Calvert County*, 48 F. 3d 810, 827 (4th Cir. 1995) (quoting *Nectow v. Cambridge*, 277 U.S. 183, 187-88, 48 S. Ct. 447, 73 L. Ed. 842 (1928)).” *Dunes West Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 737 S.E. 2d 601 (S.C. 2013).

After a thorough and detailed analysis and summary of the arguments of the parties and based upon his findings of fact, Mr. Cooke observed in his Order:

“My conclusion is best summarized by the following statement: “While the landowner here...do[es] not embrace this choice of zoning, other residents in close proximity applaud this zoning. **While the landowner may not agree and may be able to convince this Court not to agree with the City’s [County’s] zoning choice, that is not the issue before [me]. I cannot insinuate [my] judgment into a review of the City’s [County’s] decision... Based on the foregoing considerations, I find that Plaintiff has not met his**

burden of proving that the Defendants’ legislative action was arbitrary and capricious...” (emphasis added) R.O.A. _____.

In other words, zoning and rezoning is up to the local legislative body. Court’s should avoid second-guessing the legislative decisions of the local elected officials. A footnote in *Bear Enterprises v. Greenville County*, 319 S.C. 137, 459 S.E. 2d 883 (1995) sums up this key point well:

“We note that Bear deposed Council members and presented their testimony as evidence to support Bear’s argument that Council’s decision was arbitrary. We are aware of no authority allowing someone challenging action by Council to interrogate members individually to impeach Council’s decision. The governing body of a municipality acts as a collective body, not as individuals, and decisions made in this fashion are the product of debate and compromise. **If individuals are not satisfied with decisions made by members of a municipal government within the limits of the law, their remedy is at the polls, not the courts.** Although we feel it was inappropriate to examine Council members in this manner, the County did not object to the procedure in this case.” (Emphasis added).

In his argument before the Special Referee, Plaintiff/Appellant relied, and in his Initial Brief he continues to rely heavily on three cases, each of which is an appeal from a decision of the local Board of Zoning Appeals or its equivalent, *Bannum, Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 335 S.C. 202, 516 S.E. 2d 439 (1999), *Wyndham Enterprises, LLC v. City of North Augusta*, 401 S.C. 144, 735 S.E. 2d 659 (Ct. App. 2012) and *Helicopter Solutions, Inc. v. Hinde*, 414 S.C. 1, 776 S.E. 2d 753 (Ct. App. 2015).

Plaintiff/Appellant persists in his mistaken insistence that the cited cases, all from a local BZA decision, pertain to Mr. Cooke’s orders and this appeal¹. He is comparing “apples and oranges”. Respondents forcefully argued that an understanding and application of the distinction

¹ It is telling that in the Conclusion to his Initial Brief, Plaintiff/Appellant asks this Court to reverse Mr. Cooke’s Order and ... “remand to the County Council with instructions to make specific findings of fact regarding the impact of the Appellant’s request on traffic, safety and any impact on property values.”

is essential to the trial court's consideration of the merits of the case and it continues to be essential in review of his decision by this Court.

It is true, that if this was an appeal from a Berkeley County Board of Zoning Appeals, which it is not, then just as in the three cited cases above, the county's ordinance regarding decisions of the board of zoning appeals would govern. The applicable Berkeley County BZA ordinance reads:

“Berkeley County Zoning Ordinance 21.6. - Decisions of the board of zoning appeals. All final decisions and orders of the board must be in writing and be permanently filed as a public record. All findings of fact and conclusions of law must be separately stated in final decisions or orders of the board, which must be delivered to parties of interest by certified mail.” R.O.A. _____.

The County's ordinance recognizes the quasi-judicial nature of the BZA proceedings (thus the necessity of writing out its findings of facts and conclusions of law) versus legislative proceedings conducted by County Council for which there is no corresponding requirement in law or in practice. It would be untenable to hold a legislative body to such a standard.

Special Referee Cooke recognized the distinction and its materiality. He specifically addressed the difference in his Order:

“I agree that there is a distinction between judicial appellate review of an administrative decision and judicial scrutiny of a legislative decision. A legislative body is not expected to make an evidentiary record or to articulate the bases for its decisions as would stand up to judicial appellate review. Rather—as the above-cited case law holds—legislative actions must be upheld if there is even a fairly debatable basis to support them.”

II. BECAUSE THERE IS AMPLE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE SPECIAL REFEREE'S CONCLUSION THAT THE MATTER WAS FAIRLY DEBATABLE AND FAIRLY DEBATED, HIS DECISION SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED.

The “**fairly debatable**” test has long been the measure in South Carolina as to whether a local government’s zoning decision will withstand a challenge as arbitrary and capricious.

There is a long line of reported cases establishing and affirming the test.

In *Bear Enterprises v. Greenville County*, 319 S.C. 137, 459 S.E. 2d 883 (1995), our Supreme Court chose not to invalidate Greenville County’s refusal to rezone Bear’s property from residential-suburban to resident-mobile home park concluding that the County’s decision was “fairly debatable”.

“It is not the prerogative of the courts to pass upon the wisdom of County Council’s decision; rather, the controlling inquiry is whether County Council’s refusal to change the zoning of Bear’s property is so unreasonable as to impair or destroy Bear’s constitutional rights. If the propriety of the Council’s decision is even ‘fairly debatable’ we cannot inject our judgment into a review of their decision, but must leave that decision undisturbed”. *Rushing v. City of Greenville*, 265 S.C. 285, 217 S.E.2d 797 (1975) (the action of a municipality regarding the rezoning of property will not be overturned by a court if the municipality’s decision is “fairly debatable” because the municipality’s action is presumed to have been validly exercised, and because it is not the court’s prerogative to pass upon the wisdom of the municipality’s decision). Only where the municipality’s action is “so unreasonable as to impair or destroy constitutional rights,” *Rush v. City of Greenville*, 246 S.C. 268, 276, 143 S.E.2d 527, 531 (1965), will the courts declare the municipality’s action unconstitutional.” The burden of proving the invalidity of a zoning ordinance is on the party attacking it; thus, it is incumbent upon Bear to show by clear and convincing evidence the arbitrary and capricious nature of the ordinance. *Town of Scranton v. Willoughby*, 306 S.C. 421, 412 S.E.2d 424 (1991).

We find the Council’s decision to deny Bear the right to place 211, as opposed to 30 to 35 mobile homes, on its property “fairly debatable.” Bear has not demonstrated by clear and

convincing evidence that Council acted arbitrarily or capriciously. Moreover, there was no taking, as Bear acknowledges its property still has a beneficial use to which it can be put. A legislative body does not deny due process simply because it does not permit a landowner to make the most beneficial use of its property. *Hampton v. Richland County*, 292 S.C. 500, 357 S.E.2d 463 (Ct.App.1987) (a property owner is not entitled to have his property zoned for its most profitable use); *Ohoopee Land Dev. Corp. v. Mayor & Council of Wrightsville*, 248 Ga. 96, 281 S.E.2d 529 (1981) (a zoning classification is not unconstitutional simply because a developer is deprived of a more profitable use of his property).

Lenardis v. City of Greenville, 316 S.C. 471, 450 S. E. 2d 597 (Ct. App. 1994) was another rezoning case. Pursuant to an order of reference for final judgment with direct appeal, the master ordered the defendant city to rezone the plaintiff's property from office use to commercial use.

Reversing the master, this Court held: "Rezoning is a legislative matter. The decision of the legislative body is presumptively valid, and the property owner bears the burden of proving otherwise. *Rushing v. City of Greenville*, 265 S.C. 285, 217 S.E.2d 797 (1975); *Rush v. City of Greenville*, 246 S.C. 268, 143 S.E.2d 527 (1965). The governing bodies of municipalities clothed with authority to determine residential and industrial districts are better qualified by their knowledge of the situation to act upon such matters than are the courts and they will not be interfered with unless there is a plain violation of the constitutional rights of citizens. *Rush*, 143 S.E.2d at 531. It is not the prerogative of the court to pass upon the wisdom of the decision. *Rushing*, 217 S.E.2d at 799. The controlling inquiry is whether City Council's refusal to change the zoning of the owner's property is so unreasonable as to impair or destroy the owner's constitutional rights. *Rushing*, 217 S.E.2d at 799. We cannot insinuate our judgment into a review of the City Council's decision, but must leave that decision undisturbed if the propriety of that decision is even "fairly debatable." *Knowles v. City of Aiken*, 305 S.C. 219, 407 S.E.2d 639 (1991).

We find that City Council's decision to hold the line on commercial development in the area and protect its residential nature was fairly debatable and was not unreasonable.

In *Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. 383, 675 S.E. 2d 776, (Ct. App. 2009), Mr. Harbit, an owner of property located at 7 Wesley Drive, applied for rezoning of the property based on its location within the Savannah Highway Overlay Zone. The Zone was created as a result of a comprehensive study of land surrounding the Ashley River Bridge in Charleston. Based on this study, the City developed the "Ashley Bridge District" plan, which identified the need to maintain residential communities in the Zone, despite increased commercialization. While highlighting the need to maintain residential uses in the Zone, the plan allows certain properties along Savannah Highway and Wesley Drive to be used for limited commercial purposes, including professional office use. Under the Ashley Bridge District plan, the other properties on the owner's side of Wesley Drive within the Zone had been rezoned for limited commercial use.

The City of Charleston Planning Commission reviewed the owner's application, at which time the owner's counsel presented his position for rezoning the Wesley Drive property. The Planning Commission, however, voted to recommend denying the rezoning application. Charleston City Council received the Planning Commission's recommendation and held a public hearing to address Harbit's application. City Council denied Harbit's request.

After City Council's denial of his application, Harbit appealed the zoning decision to the circuit court and asserted additional grounds for relief, including causes of action for due process and equal protection violations. The City filed a motion for summary judgment on all claims, which the circuit court granted. Harbit appealed. The Court of Appeals was not persuaded by Harbit's assertion that City Council's refusal to rezone Harbit's property was so unreasonable that the appellate Court should invalidate City Council's decision. The Court affirmed the lower court and restated well-settled law in South Carolina: "We find that City Council's decision is fairly

debatable....While all of the residents' concerns might not be well-founded, City Council's response to public opposition does not rise to the level of a constitutional violation. See Sunrise Corp. of Myrtle Beach v. City of Myrtle Beach, 420 F.3d 322, 329 (4th Cir.2005) (in finding the state court of appeals' decision was not res judicata of the developers' § 1983 due process and equal protection claims, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals determined the city council's improper denial of the zoning application in response to public opposition did not rise to the level of a constitutional violation because "matters of zoning are inherently political, and it is a zoning official's responsibility to mediate disputes between developers and local residents").

Additionally, City Council specifically cited the unique location of Harbit's property as opposed to other properties on Wesley Drive that were zoned for limited commercial use, noting that two of its sides are situated on the interior of the neighborhood. Moreover, because it is a corner lot, the property effectively serves as a buffer between the heavier-traveled Wesley Drive and the purely residential Stocker Drive. See Hampton v. Richland County, 292 S.C. 500, 503, 357 S.E.2d 463, 465 (Ct. App.1987) (finding the city council's refusal to rezone property from an office and industrial classification to a general commercial classification was "fairly debatable" because the property lay between commercial and residential properties thus creating a buffer between the two zones).

While other similarly situated properties on Wesley Drive are zoned for limited commercial use, the record does not indicate that Harbit was the subject of purposeful, invidious discrimination. See Sylvia Dev. Corp. v. Calvert County, Md., 48 F.3d 810, 825 (4th Cir.1995) (internal citations omitted) ("If disparate treatment alone were sufficient to warrant a constitutional remedy, then every blunder by a local authority, in which the authority erroneously or mistakenly treats an individual differently than it treats another who is similarly situated, would rise to the level of a federal constitutional claim.").

“Based on the evidence in the record, the City properly denied Harbit’s rezoning application in an effort to hold the line on commercial development in the area and protect its residential nature. We will not invalidate City Council’s decision as its propriety is at least “fairly debatable” based on the facts and is not “so unreasonable as to impair or destroy constitutional rights.” See Knowles, 305 S.C. at 224, 407 S.E.2d at 642. As such, it is not this Court’s function to pass upon the wisdom or expediency of City Council’s decision. See Bob Jones Univ., Inc., 243 S.C. at 360, 133 S.E.2d at 847.

Special Referee Cooke properly applied the “fairly debatable” test in his Order:

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